5-14

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MONSANTO COMPANY ,
Appellant,
v.
MICHAEL McK. WILSON, et al.,
Appellee.

CASE NO. 73,689
PSC DOCKET NO. 880001-EI

On Appeal from the Florida Public Service Commission

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
MONSANTO COMPANY**

Joseph A. McGlothlin
Fla. Bar No. 163771
Vicki Gordon Kaufman
Fla. Bar No. 286672
Lawson, McWhirter, Grandoff
& Reeves
522 E. Park Avenue
Suite 200
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
9041222-2525

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In the case below, there were three Industrial Intervenors. Only Monsanto Company has taken this appeal. Throughout the brief, the Appellant, Monsanto Company, is referred to as Monsanto or Intervenor.

The Appellee, Florida Public Service Commission, is referred to as the Commission. Gulf Power Company is referred to as Gulf Power. Southern Company is referred to as Southern. Because Southern acted as Gulf Power's agent in some of the transactions discussed herein, the two entities are sometimes referred to as Gulf Power/Southern.

The record on appeal is denoted "R-Vol. ___, p. ___." Exhibits are denoted "R-Vol. ___, Exh. ___." References to the transcript are designated "Tr-Vol. ___, p. ___." References to the Appendix are designated "A., p. ___."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began as part of the Commission's ongoing fuel cost recovery proceeding. In that proceeding, regulated electric utilities petition for authority to collect the fuel expenses incurred to provide retail electric service from retail customers through the fuel cost recovery clause component of their authorized rate structures. The Commission compares 6-month projections of expenses with actual expenditures; reviews the reasonableness and prudence of the amounts for which approval is requested; and determines which portion should be approved for recovery and which amounts should be disallowed.

In January 1987, Gulf Power filed a petition seeking approval of, inter alia, the recovery of a portion of the cost of buying out two expensive coal contracts with vendors who had previously supplied the coal burned in Gulf Power's Plant Daniel. Gulf Power proposed to collect the cost of the buyout from wholesale and retail customers who bought Plant Daniel energy on a cents/kWh basis. (In other words, the more Plant Daniel energy bought by a customer, the larger the share of coal buyout costs that customer would pay). Monsanto raised and preserved for hearing the issue of the manner in which expensive Plant Daniel energy had been allocated between retail and wholesale jurisdictions over time.

Later, in a Prehearing Statement, Monsanto asserted that, during the period August 1985-1987, Gulf Power had improperly charged retail customers for quantities of expensive Plant

Daniel energy by flowing through the clause the cost of a concession to wholesale customers in the form of the new rate schedule (Schedule R), and that the practice had resulted in unreasonably high retail fuel costs and an overallocation of the Plant Daniel coal buyout costs.

Following extensive discovery, a prehearing conference was held on February 3, 1988. R-Vol. 11, pp. 1-65. A prehearing order was entered on February 16, 1988. Order No. 18867; R-Vol. I, pp. 22-79.

A hearing was held before the Commission on February 22-24, 1988. As a result of the hearing, the Commission issued Order No. 19042 on March 25, 1988. R-Vol. I, pp. 80-112; A., pp. 1-12. The Commission found in Order No. 19042 that Schedule R had not caused Gulf Power's retail ratepayers to bear inappropriate fuel charges because Plant Daniel was operated on the basis of "economic dispatch" and because off-system sales attributable to Schedule R benefited Gulf Power's ratepayers through lowered fuel costs.

On April 7, 1988, Monsanto filed a motion for reconsideration. R-Vol. I, pp. 123-126. Gulf Power responded on April 26, 1988. R-Vol. I, pp. 131-137.

On September 8, 1988, Monsanto filed a Request for Official Notice of an opinion of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. R-Vol. I, pp. 138-172. Gulf responded on September 19, 1988.

On January 9, 1989, the Commission entered Order No. 20568. R-Vol. I, pp. 173-177; A., pp. 13-17. This order granted the request for official no-Lice.

More importantly, in Order No. 20568, the Commission receded from the finding of Tact relating to Gulf Power's claim that Schedule R led to fuel savings, on which it had partially based its approval of the amounts collected by Gulf Power. The Commission stated:

The Industrial Intervenors have pointed to no new evidence or misinterpretation of the evidence produced at trial that counters the rationale that economic dispatch does credit the ratepayer with the appropriate amount of fuel costs even though those costs may have been higher in the questioned period. The second misinterpretation of the evidence complained of by the Industrial Intervenors concerned the finding that the offering of Schedule R actually lowered fuel costs due to increased MW sales. Upon a more detailed review of the record, we are now convinced that the evidence presented at the hearing is simply incapable of supporting that factual finding. However, we **do** not believe that the failure of the record to support that factual finding nullifies our decision in this case.

R-Vol. I, pp. 175-176. Based on the sole remaining finding-- that related to the "economic dispatch" rationale-- the Commission denied reconsideration.

On February 8, 1989, Monsanto filed its Notice of Appeal of Order Nos. 19042 and 20568. R-Vol. I, pp. 178-180.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gulf Power is an electric utility which serves retail customers in the northern panhandle of Florida. It is a "public utility" within the meaning of Section 366.02, Florida Statutes (1987). The rates and service it provides to retail customers are regulated by the Commission.

Gulf Power is also one of four subsidiary operating companies comprising the Southern power pool. (The others are Georgia Power Company, Mississippi Power Company, and Alabama Power Company). While Gulf Power has direct responsibility for service to its Florida jurisdictional customers, its generating/transmission system is pooled with those of its sister companies, and the combined resources are operated as a single integrated system. See description in Gulf Power Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 453 So.2d 799, 801 (Fla. 1984).

Gulf Power enters into three types of energy sales. The first is sales to customers in its geographical service area. Of these sales, 95% are to retail ratepayers and are regulated by the Commission. Tr-Vol. III, p. 378. The Commission determines the level of investment devoted to and "used and useful" in providing service to retail customers; the reasonable, prudent expenses necessarily incurred to provide service to retail customers; and fixes the fair rates to be charged for that service. Sections 366.041 and 366.06, Florida Statutes (1957). The rate structure approved by the Commission includes a "fuel cost recovery clause," through

which the Commission allows Gulf Power to collect from retail customers the cost of fuel burned to serve those customers.

Another category of sales is "intercompany transactions." These are purchases and sales of energy among the four operating companies comprising the Southern power pool. The terms and conditions governing such transactions are set forth in an Intercompany Interexchange Contract, which is subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"). See R-Vol. VI, Exh. 12.

The final category of transactions consists of sales by Southern (as Gulf Power's agent) to utilities outside Gulf Power's service area (other than the member operating companies). These are called "off-system" sales. Like other wholesale transactions, these sales are regulated by the FERC.

Under the Florida regulatory scheme, Gulf Power's primary responsibility is to its retail customers. Its statutory obligation is to efficiently and economically plan, build, and operate a system that will meet the needs of its Florida ratepayers. Through a variety of off-system transactions-- short-term and long-term--Gulf Power (through its parent and agent Southern) may attempt to market capacity and/or energy not needed to serve its retail customers.

When the Commission determines that a particular asset or facility is not needed to serve retail customers, it excludes ("disallows") the costs associated with the asset from the revenue requirements borne by retail rates. The off-system sale of the excluded capacity then has the effect of

preventing the utility's shareholders from having to absorb the costs associated with owning the facility which are not reflected in customers' rates. See Order No. 11498 at p. 76, Docket No. 820150-EU.

Gulf Power owns half of Plant Daniel, a coal-fired generating facility located in Mississippi. Tr-Vol. III, pp. 345-346, 370. Plant Daniel is Gulf Power's most recently added increment of generating capacity. Gulf Power sought to include its Plant Daniel investment in the "rate base" borne by retail rates in Docket No. 820150-EU. However, in Order No. 11498, the Commission refused to allow all of the investment in the plant to be included. In a subsequent rate case--Gulf Power's last completed rate case--only 50% of Gulf Power's investment in Plant Daniel was reflected in rates fixed by the Commission for service to retail ratepayers.

Similar experiences occurred elsewhere. During the late 1970's and early 1980's, the Southern operating companies overbuilt generating capacity. Faced with an overabundance ("excess") of generating capacity, needed neither for retail nor intercompany transactions, Southern (as agent for Gulf Power and the other operating companies), sought to market the excess capacity (and associated energy) to off-system utilities. Tr-Vol. III, p. 345. It succeeded.

In the early 1980s, Southern entered off-system contracts called Unit Power Sales ("UPS") agreements with Florida Power and Light Company ("FPL"), Jacksonville Electric Authority ("JEA"), and Gulf States Utilities ("GSU"). Tr-Vol. III, pp.

345-346. Under the UPS concept, the capacity of specific generating units was contractually dedicated to the buying utilities. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 480. In return, the utilities agreed to pay rates ("capacity charges") designed to enable Southern to recover all of the fixed costs of owning the dedicated units plus a 16% return on the equity investments in those units. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 492.

For the UPS buyers, having the contract entitlements was much like owning the dedicated unit. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 480. The buyer paid for the specific carrying costs of the particular unit and was entitled to schedule the delivery to its system of energy out of that unit in amounts commensurate with the limits of its contracted and dedicated capacity.

In addition to the rates designed to pay for the fixed costs of owning the unit (depreciation, taxes, return on equity), the buying utility also committed to schedule and pay for minimum quantities of energy generated by the dedicated UPS unit. The contractual obligation which is most pertinent to the issue before the Court concerned the commitment to schedule and purchase a minimum quantity of UPS unit energy annually.

Section 3.5 of the UPS agreement with FPL,^{1/} for example, states:

^{1/} The terms and conditions of the several UP, contracts are virtually identical. Tr-Vol. 111, p. 357.

3.5 Minimum Energy Scheduling: FPL agrees to schedule energy from each unit made available under Article II in excess of a fifty percent (50%) output factor on an annual basis. FPL agrees to use its best efforts, consistent with Prudent Utility Practices, to make the energy scheduled from each unit pursuant to Section 3.4 such that during any year the total energy scheduled from each unit is more than one-half the total hourly capacity made available from that unit under Article II for such year, ^{2/} as adjusted pursuant to Section 3.3 above.

Gulf Power's Plant Daniel, only 50% of which is reflected in Gulf Power's retail rate base, Tr-Vol. 111, pp. 370-371, was designated as a UPS unit in the UPS contracts. The amount of Plant Daniel capacity sold to the buying utilities scaled upward over a number of years. Initially, the amount was only 47% of the unit; in 1983 and 1984, however, the amount mushroomed to about 85%; and remained at approximately that level during 1986 and continuing through January 1989. The revenues paid by the buying utilities for the dedicated Plant Daniel capacity correspondingly increased. Throughout this period, retail ratepayers continued to bear the cost of 50% of Gulf Power's investment in Plant Daniel through the rates they

^{2/} The UPS contracts require the purchasing utility to schedule energy from each unit made available in excess of a fifty percent (50%) "output factor" on an annual basis. Assume that a purchasing utility was entitled to schedule 100,000 kilowatts of a designated UPS unit. Assume further that, during a particular twelve-month period, that unit operated for 8,040 hours. This means that, during the twelve-month period, the unit was capable of producing 804 million kilowatt hours of energy (100,000 kilowatts x 8,040 hours). Under this provision, the UPS customer would be obligated to schedule and purchase, at a minimum, in excess of 50% of the unit's output, or 402 million kilowatt hours based on the above example.

paid. As a result, from 1985 forward Gulf Power's combined retail rates and UPS capacity charges covered about 120%-135% of its investment in Plant Daniel. In addition, the 16% rate of return on equity provided by the UPS capacity charges was more lucrative than the return which had been established by the Commission for retail purposes. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 492.

Like other utilities, Gulf Power/Southern operates the units on its system, including Plant Daniel, on the basis of "economic dispatch." That is, the unit which costs the least to operate is the first to be used; the other generators are committed ("dispatched") in the ascending order of relative operating costs as more capacity is needed to meet rising system demand. Tr-Vol. 111, p. 368. The units are automatically committed to meet the aggregate of overall system conditions. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 531; R-Vol. VI, Exh. 14, Answer to Interrogatory 1; A., pp. 18-19.

The process of determining the responsibility of the retail customers for the energy generated by Plant Daniel in a particular period of time is a separate, after-the-fact determination. Tr-Vol. III, pp. 368-369; R-Vol. VI, Exh. 14, Answer to interrogatory 1; A., pp. 18-19. it is a process of elimination. The total Plant Daniel generation for the period is known. The billing program first assigns to the UPS customers and any other off-system customers the cost of the Plant Daniel energy they scheduled (ordered for delivery) in the period. The same is done for intercompany transactions.

The remainder, which was bought neither by off-system customers nor by other members of the pool, is then allocated and charged to the retail customers. Tr-Vol. III, pp. 369-370. The process is summarized by:

RETAINED ENERGY = MET GENERATION - ALL ENERGY SOLD

R-Vol. VI, Exh. 15, Intervenors' Third Set of Interrogatories, Item 52(b); A., p. 22.

During the period 1983-1987, Plant Daniel was fueled by very expensive western sources of coal, which placed Plant Daniel's operating costs among the highest on Gulf Power's system. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 489; R-Vol. VI, Exh. 22, Schedule 7.

The decision of the UPS buyers to enter the UPS contracts was based in part upon the then attractive relative economics between coal-fired Southern generating costs and the cost of oil-fired generation on their own systems. In the 1985 time frame, oil costs began to trend downward, and the economics of the UPS energy transactions were no longer as favorable. Tr-Vol. III, pp. 346, 391. To mollify its unhappy UPS customers (thereby securing the capacity charges and the 16% return on equity afforded by the contracts), Gulf Power/Southern unilaterally altered the annual energy purchase requirement to which the UPS buying utilities had contractually committed. The instrument of the modification was a new wholesale rate schedule, termed Schedule R (for "replacement"). Tr-Vol. III, p. 347. Through Schedule R, Gulf Power/Southern provided the UPS customers access to generating sources on Southern's

system which were significantly cheaper than the energy out of the dedicated units which they had contracted to buy--and allowed the UPS customers to count the cheaper Schedule R energy toward the annual minimum energy requirement of the UPS contract. Tr-Vol. III, p. 400; Vol. IV, p. 482; R-Vol. VI, Exh. 13.

With Schedule R in place, Gulf Power/Southern continued to operate its system on the basis of economic dispatch.

The UPS customers continued to buy energy from Gulf Power/Southern. They naturally substituted the new, cheaper "Schedule R" energy for the more expensive Plant Daniel energy whenever possible. R-Vol. VI, Exh. 15, Intervenors' Third Set of Interrogatories, Item 43(c); A., p. 20.

Gulf Power continued to bill for Plant Daniel's generated energy as before. First, the amount of energy scheduled by and delivered to off-system customers, such as the UPS buyers, was allocated and charged to those wholesale customers.

Next, the amount of Plant Daniel energy, if any, which had been ordered by other Southern operating companies through intercompany transactions was identified and charged to those entities.

Then the remainder of Plant Daniel energy was allocated to Gulf Power's territorial customers. Tr-Vol. III, p. 374-376. Ninety-five percent of the "territorial" generation consists of retail requirements. Tr-Vol. 111, p. 378. That corresponding quantity of expensive Plant Daniel energy was incorporated in the cost of fuel which was flowed through the

retail fuel cost recovery clause and collected from Gulf Power's jurisdictional retail customers.

The overall level of operation of Plant Daniel (in economic dispatch) over time did not vary materially following the advent of Schedule R from its pre-Schedule R levels. Tr-Vol. IV, p. 485.

However, the division between jurisdictions of the responsibility for paying for Plant Daniel energy changed dramatically after Schedule R was implemented. Post-R, the UPS customers, who were availing themselves of much cheaper Schedule R energy and counting those purchases toward their original UPS minimum annual obligations, scheduled (and were therefore charged for) far less Plant Daniel energy than before. The other Southern operating companies, who like the UPS customers did not find the price of Plant Daniel energy attractive, did not purchase the Plant Daniel energy which the UPS buyers had disdained.

The retail customers, who under the billing formula are charged for whatever Plant Daniel energy is not bought by others, suddenly were being charged for a radically increased share of expensive Plant Daniel energy. The increase was as dramatic a change as the shift of the UPS customers away from Plant Daniel energy.

Although the concession of Schedule R safeguarded the capacity charges (with 16% return on equity) being received under the UPS contracts, Gulf Power's shareholders paid none of the cost associated with relenting on the contract

minimums. Tr-Vol. III, pp. 410, 494. Instead, the fuel costs that the UPS customers were able to avoid by substituting Schedule R energy were channeled directly to retail ratepayers via the operation of the "residuum" feature of the after-the-fact billing formula and were recovered from the ratepayers through the retail fuel cost recovery charge.

In 1986, Gulf Power bought out the expensive western contracts for Plant Daniel coal. It petitioned the Commission for authority to recover the costs of the buyout through the fuel cost recovery clause. It proposed to allocate the cost of the buyout between retail and wholesale customers on the basis of relative consumption, meaning that a greater responsibility for Plant Daniel generation would translate into a larger share of the buyout cost.

Monsanto did not raise an objection to the coal buyout per se. However, based on indications of past anomalous allocations of Plant Daniel energy to the retail customers, it raised the issue of the appropriate amounts of Plant Daniel energy and buyout costs which should be borne by retail customers during the 1985-1987 time frame.

At hearing, Monsanto demanded that the Commission disallow that portion of 1985-1987 Plant Daniel fuel expense associated with the flow-through of the Schedule R concession. Monsanto argued that such amounts did not constitute costs reasonably and necessarily incurred to provide service to retail customers; instead, Gulf Power was requiring retail ratepayers to subsidize a concession made to

wholesale customers who were contractually obligated to purchase the expensive energy. Monsanto argued that Gulf Power was improperly flowing nonjurisdictional UPS costs through the fuel recovery clause to its jurisdictional retail customers for the purpose of protecting its wholesale rate of return. Monsanto asserted that the increased allocation of Plant Daniel energy had the additional effect of placing an unfairly high share of the Plant Daniel coal buyout costs on the retail customers.

The Commission refused to require a refund. Its decision was based on the single finding that, because Gulf Power's generators are committed on the basis of economic dispatch, the amounts of Plant Daniel energy charged to retail customers were not unreasonable.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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