IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)))

)

MONSANTO COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL McK. WILSON, et al.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 73,689

By_



JUN 13 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

> SUSAN F. CLARK General Counsel

DAVID E. SMITH Director, Division of Appeals

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Commission accepts Appellant's Statement of the Case and Facts as correct to the extent that they purport to describe the background of Gulf's Schedule R and the course of the proceedings in neutral terms. The Commission objects, however, to certain emotive characterizations of the facts as, for example, the statement at page 15 of Appellant's brief that the Commission "refused to require a refund." The Commission found, after careful consideration of all evidence, that Schedule R had not caused retail ratepayers to bear unreasonable fuel costs. Obviously, with that finding no refund was required. The Commission did not "refuse" to do anything.

Where appropriate, the Commission has incorporated additional relevant facts of record in the body of its hrief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission heard extensive testimony on Gulf's implementation of Schedule R and the operation of the Southern system. On the weight of that evidence, it properly concluded that Schedule R had not caused territorial ratepayers to bear unreasonable fuel costs. The evidence clearly establishes that under economic dispatch of the Southern system, the territorial ratepayers are assigned and billed for the most economical energy available at any given time.

Schedule R purchases necessarily had some effect on the pattern of economic dispatch of the Southern system, as would any large purchase of energy. The record showed that other factors, including the normal pattern of economic dispatch to serve the territorial load, could also produce such effects, specifically, bringing plant Daniel off minimal loading. It was thus unclear from the evidence before the Commission to what extent the apparent increase in plant Daniel usage was directly attributable to Schedule R or other factors. In the final analysis, there was no evidence in the record to show what the pattern of economic dispatch would have been had Schedule R not been implemented. Absent such a demonstration that territorial ratepayers would have had available and taken cheaper energy, the Commission had no basis to find that the energy they were assigned was unreasonably expensive. The Commission properly found that the cost of energy supplied, being the most economical available at any given time, was reasonable and that no fuel costs should be disallowed.

POINT I

THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT GULF'S SCHEDULE R DID NOT CAUSE RETAIL RATEPAYERS TO BEAR UNREASONABLE FUEL COSTS WAS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Standard of Review

This Court has stated many times that it will not reweigh or reevaluate the evidence presented to the Commission, nor overturn a Commission order, because it might have reached a different result, had it made the initial decision. The Court's role is to determine whether the Commission had before it competent substantial evidence to support its order. <u>Gulf Power Company v.</u> Florida Public Service Commission, 453 So.2d 799, 803 (Fla. 1984); Citizens v. Public Service Commission, 464 So.2d 1194 (Fla. The Commission heard extensive testimony by Gulf's 1985). witnesses, Gilchrist and Howell, and Monsanto's witness, Pollock, on the issue of Schedule R's effect on the fuel costs borne by retail ratepayers. The Commission weighed that conflicting testimony and concluded that Schedule R did not cause retail ratepayers to bear unreasonable fuel costs. This Court should not disturb that finding.

Burden of Proof in PSC Proceedings

The plant Daniel fuel costs at issue in the proceedings below were initially reviewed by the Commission as part of its ongoing fuel adjustment proceedings. The burden of proof in the fuel adjustment proceedings is always on the utilities seeking to

demonstrate the reasonableness of the fuel costs they have incurred. Conversely, it is the Commission's regulatory duty to evaluate the evidence presented by the utilities in support of their fuel costs, and to allow them to pass on to retail ratepayers only those costs which were reasonably and prudently incurred. <u>Florida Power Corporation v. Cresse</u>, 413 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1982).

When the effect of Schedule R on fuel costs borne by retail ratepayers was heard in the Commission's February 1988 fuel adjustment proceedings, the burden was on Gulf Power to demonstrate the reasonableness of those fuel costs in the light of any effects that Schedule R may have had. Put another way, Gulf's burden was to show by a preponderance of the evidence that Schedule R produced no effects which made the plant Daniel buy-out costs and other fuel costs passed through to retail ratepayers unreasonably high or imprudently incurred. The burden on Appellant, Monsanto, in those proceedings was to come forward with evidence showing that Gulf had failed to meet that burden. Florida Department of Transportation v. J.W.C. Company, Inc., 396 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

It must be noted that the issue as presented to the Commission did not directly challenge the wisdom of Gulf's decision to offer Schedule R to its Unit Power Sales (UPS) customers. Since the offering of Schedule R involved wholesale contracts regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), the Commission had no jurisdiction to directly question the prudence of that

decision. <u>Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Mississippi ex rel.</u> <u>Moore</u>, No. 86-1940, 108 S. Ct. 2428 (June 24, 1988).

The only issue before the Commission was whether the outcome of offering Schedule R resulted in the retail ratepayers bearing fuel costs which were unreasonable. Tr. 509. Monsanto contended that Schedule R caused an increase in plant Daniel fuel costs to be passed-through to retail ratepayers, that these costs were higher than might otherwise have been incurred and that the excess should be borne by Gulf shareholders. Gulf, on the other hand, contended that neither the amount nor the cost of plant Daniel energy billed to retail ratepayers were excessive and that they should, therefore, bear the fuel costs.

A. Schedule R Did Not Cause A Shift Of Unreasonable Fuel Costs To Retail Ratepayers.

The weight of the evidence presented to the Commission did not support Monsanto's contentions.

Gulf's UPS contracts, as originally negotiated, contained provisions for two minimum energy purchases. First, the contracting utilities were required to purchase a pro rata share of the UPS unit's output when the unit was minimally loaded. R-87-88. Minimal loading refers to the operating condition of a unit when it is being run basically to maintain it in a ready state to meet increased system demands if necessary. Tr. 450. The second energy obligation of the UPS customers was to use their best efforts to buy energy equal to 50 percent of the unit's

output factors. The UPS customers could satisfy these obligations by purchasing energy produced by plant Daniel, referred to as base energy, or by purchases of what was designated alternate or supplemental energy. R - 88. Alternate energy is energy produced by other non-UPS units on the Southern system and it was made available when the UPS units, such as Daniel, did not produce enough energy to meet the UPS customers' demands or when the UPS unit was available but not being used for economic reasons. Ιt was priced at a mark-up based on a split-the-savings difference between the cost of the UPS energy and the non-UPS energy. Supplemental energy was available when the UPS units were shut down on a forced or planned outage. It was available from non-UPS units and was priced at the greater of the normal energy rate of the UPS unit or the incremental energy cost of the non-UPS unit supplying the energy. R-88.

Schedule R allowed the UPS customers to purchase energy to satisfy their minimum 50 percent purchase obligation from any of the units on the Southern system. It could thus be used in addition to, or in lieu of, base or alternate energy purchases. R-88. Schedule R energy was not marked-up; it was priced based on the average incremental cost of generation on the Southern system. Tr. 347; 363.

The central issue on the effect of allowing Schedule R sales was whether those sales resulted in a change in the pattern of economic dispatch on the Southern system such that it caused Gulf's retail ratepayers to be billed for energy that contained

unreasonably high fuel costs. In its order on reconsideration, Order No. 20568, the Commission stated its conclusion on the issue as follows:

> The issue to be considered in this docket is associated with the fact that the presence of the UPS contracts necessarily causes units to be brought on line in a different dispatch order than they would be if those sales were Practically speaking, this not made. translates into the fact that those contracts cause Southern's more expensive units (Daniel and Shearer) to be brought off minimal loading more of the time than they otherwise would be to serve Gulf's territorial load alone. After exhaustively looking at the record developed in this proceeding, we are still of the opinion that Southern's economic dispatch does result in Gulf's ratepayers getting the benefit of the cheapest power being dispatched at any time.

R-175.

The Commission's finding is supported by the record developed on the operation of Southern's billing system and the operation of its economic dispatch.

The Billing System

The amount of energy allocated to Gulf's retail customers is calculated by a billing program which analyzes the various types of retail and wholesale sales on the Southern system and assigns the charges accordingly. That is, after the sales have taken place, Southern reviews its logs of schedules placed by companies, line readings, and other calculations and reconstructs the billing to determine who bought the power. Tr. 368. The billing program

is such that it assigns Gulf's retail customers the energy that is left over after all other types of transactions have been accounted for. Tr. 368. The billing program is embodied in the formula: "Retained energy = Net generation - All energy sold." Exh. 15, Item 52(b). Fuel costs passed on to the retail ratepayers are calculated based on the energy assigned by this formula.

Economic Dispatch

The Southern system is a coordinated generating system which brings units on line to serve its customers in order of the increasing cost of generation from those units. Tr. 368. The units are dispatched on an incremental generating cost basis with the lowest incremental cost going first to serve territorial customers and then to meet other system needs. Tr. 531-532; Exh. 11, Sec. 2, p. 22. This is referred to as "economic dispatch". Because the Southern System units operate in economic dispatch, the energy that is assigned the retail customers in any given hour is the most economical available to them at that time. Tr. 368; 451.

When plant Daniel comes off minimal loading, thereby relieving UPS customers of their minimum purchase obligation, it is utilized in economic dispatch and the energy available from it is the most economical available to all customers then being served, whether they are off-system, wholesale, or territorial customers. This was established by the testimony of Gulf witness Gilchrist and was

conceded to by Monsanto's own witness Pollock. Tr. 451; 526. The retail customers are thus billed for energy which is the most economical that they could obtain under the operation of the system in economic dispatch at any given time. Tr. 451. As Mr. Pollock conceded, the energy from plant Daniel did not become less economical by virtue of it being the left-over energy assigned to the territorial ratepayers under the billing program. Tr. 528.

The record did not conclusively establish how much of the increased use of plant Daniel power to serve the retail load was directly attributable to Schedule R. The evidence showed that plant Daniel might come off minimal loading and be committed in economic dispatch to serve the system demand for a variety of reasons. Gulf's witness Gilchrist testified that one reason was that Daniel could be brought on line for normal economic dispatch of the system. Tr. 451. Under those circumstances, Daniel would be dispatched as the most economical unit available to meet the incremental demand on the system. Mr. Gilchrist testified that such a demand for Daniel energy in any particular hour might be created by the territorial customers and that under such circumstances, the amount of energy retained under the billing program for territorial customers would not necessarily be a function of what is sold to other customers. Tr. 370.

Monsanto's witness Pollock conceded that plant Daniel or any unit in economic dispatch, might come off minimal loading for a variety of reasons other than the alleged impact of Schedule R. Tr. 541-542. Mr. Pollock further agreed that it was conceivable

that even the UPS customers would continue to schedule energy out of plant Daniel when it was off minimum operating levels because it might be the most economical energy available. Tr. 541.

The assumptions of Monsanto's witness on how much Daniel energy was used before Schedule R were likewise questionable. Mr. Pollock stated that in making his calculation comparing the amount of energy that the territorial customers would have retained out of plant Daniel absent Schedule R, he had assumed that the territorial customers would take energy out of plant Daniel at a percentage equal to the percentage of capacity retained in plant Daniel. Tr. 521. However, Mr. Pollock acknowledged that in 1983, before the implementation of Schedule R in 1985, there were times when the energy retained by territorial customers did exceed the capacity retained. Tr. 524. Gulf's witness, Mr. Howell, also criticized Mr. Pollock's theory as incorrectly assuming that UPS customers would be allocated energy out of Daniel in proportion to their capacity entitlement. Mr. Howell stated that this was incorrect and that there was no allocation of energy in direct relationship to capacity purchased and that none was ever intended. Tr. 623.

The Commission did not casually reach its conclusion in Order No. 19042 that Monsanto had failed to support its claim that Schedule R had caused retail ratepayers to bear inappropriate fuel costs. Based on the evidence before it, the Commission could not agree that the territorial ratepayers were being charged unreasonably high fuel costs because of Schedule R's effect on

economic dispatch. The Commission had no evidence before it showing what the pattern of economic dispatch would have been had the UPS customers not been offered the option of Schedule R energy from 1985-1987. There was thus no evidence showing what energy the territorial ratepayers would have been allocated under the operation of economic dispatch without Schedule R. The Commission, therefore, could not make a finding that Schedule R resulted in the retail customers paying unreasonable fuel costs for energy used to serve Gulf's territorial load. The Commission could and did find that under the Southern system's economic dispatch and the billing program it uses, the retail customers paid the fuel costs associated with the power they were assigned and that that power was the most economical available to them at any given time.

Based on its conclusions, the Commission did not find it necessary to engage in speculation about what Gulf's management might have done differently to respond to the pressures from UPS customers that led to Schedule R's implementation. However, it is worth noting in the face of Appellant's arguments in its brief that there was ample evidence presented by Gulf's witness Gilchrist which indicates that the alternatives suggested by Appellant of lower capacity charges, elimination of the mark-up on alternate energy would have been ineffective or would have resulted in only a short term pass-through of costs to stockholders before the company might have been forced to ask for rate relief. Tr. 399-409. The Commission previously found in

Order No. 11498 that, if properly managed, the UPS contracts could have a salutary effect for Gulf's retail ratepayers. It had no reason to retreat from that finding or conclude that Gulf's management decisions were imprudent in this case.

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